
   
. 

The Retirement Board will provide reasonable accommodations for 
persons with disabilities planning to attend Board meetings who 
contact the Retirement Office at least 24 hours before a meeting. 

 

 
AGENDA  

 
RETIREMENT BOARD MEETING  

 
FIRST MONTHLY MEETING 

November 4, 2015 
9:00 a.m. 

 
 

Retirement Board Conference Room 
The Willows Office Park 

1355 Willow Way, Suite 221 
Concord, California 

 
NOTICE OF TELECONFERENCE MEETING 

ONE OR MORE MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF RETIREMENT FOR THE 
CONTRA COSTA COUNTY EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT ASSOCIATION MAY 
PARTICIPATE IN THE BOARD MEETING, SCHEDULED FOR NOVEMBER 4, 
2015, VIA TELECONFERENCE AT THE LOCATION LISTED BELOW, WHICH IS 
OPEN TO THE PUBLIC. 
 
TELECONFERENCE LOCATION: 
 
THE LODGE AT TORREY PINES 
HUGHES COTTAGE 
11480 N. TORREY PINES ROAD 
LA JOLLA, CA  92037 
 
THE LOCATION LISTED ABOVE IS ACCESSIBLE TO THE PUBLIC, INCLUDING 
THOSE WITH DISABILITIES. 
 
THE RETIREMENT BOARD MAY DISCUSS AND TAKE ACTION ON THE FOLLOWING: 

 
1. Pledge of Allegiance. 

 
2. Accept comments from the public. 

 
3. Approve minutes from the September 23, 29 and 30, 2015 Board meetings. 

 
4.     Routine items for November 4, 2015. 

 
a. Approve certifications of membership. 
b. Approve service and disability allowances. 
c. Accept disability applications and authorize subpoenas as required. 
d. Approve death benefits. 
e. Accept Asset Allocation Report 

 
 
 
 



   
. 

The Retirement Board will provide reasonable accommodations for 
persons with disabilities planning to attend Board meetings who 
contact the Retirement Office at least 24 hours before a meeting. 

 
 
CLOSED SESSION 

5. The Board will go into closed session under Gov. Code Section 54957 to consider 
recommendations from the Medical Advisor and/or staff regarding the following 
disability retirement applications: 

 
    Member Type Sought  Recommendation 

a. Kristine Bouchard Non-Service Connected Non-Service Connected 
b. Arturo Cruz Non-Service Connected Non-Service Connected 
c. Matthew Parkinen Service Connected Service Connected 
d. Peter Wells Service Connected Service Connected 

  
6. The Board will continue in closed session to consider the Hearing Officer’s 

recommendation regarding the disability application for James Lee. 
 

7. The Board will continue in closed session pursuant to Govt. Code Section 
54956.9(d)(2) to confer with legal counsel regarding anticipated litigation (two cases). 
 

8. The Board will continue in closed session pursuant to Govt. Code Section 
54956.9(d)(1) to confer with legal counsel regarding pending litigation: 

  
Montgomery v. Montgomery, Solano County Superior Court, Case No. FFL 128451  

 
OPEN SESSION 
 

9. Consider and take possible action regarding the collection of pension overpayments 
from Contra Costa County due to its erroneous reporting of panel management pay as 
pensionable compensation. 
 

10. Educational Presentation on Brown Act Fundamentals  
 

11. Miscellaneous 
a. Staff Report 
b. Outside Professionals’ Report  
c. Trustees’ comments 

 
 

 



 
 

 
MINUTES 

 
RETIREMENT BOARD MEETING MINUTES 

 
SECOND MONTHLY MEETING 

September 23, 2015 
9:00 a.m. 

 

Retirement Board Conference Room 
The Willows Office Park 

1355 Willow Way, Suite 221 
Concord, California 

 
 
Present: Debora Allen, Candace Andersen, Scott Gordon, Brian Hast, Jerry Holcombe, Louie 

Kroll, John Phillips, Gabe Rodrigues, Todd Smithey, Jerry Telles and Russell Watts 
 
Absent: Will Pigeon 
 
Staff: Gail Strohl, Retirement Chief Executive Officer, Kurt Schneider, Deputy Retirement 

Chief Executive Officer; Timothy Price, Retirement Chief Investment Officer; Alexis 
Cox, Retirement Benefits Manager; and Christina Dunn, Retirement Administration 
Manager 

 
Outside Professional Support: Representing: 
 Jeff Rieger Reed Smith LLP 
  
 
1. Pledge of Allegiance 

Telles led all in the Pledge of Allegiance. 

2. Accept comments from the public 

No members of the public offered comment. 

3. Approval of Minutes 

It was M/S/C to approve the minutes of the June 10, 2015 Board meeting with a correction to 
remove Watts from voting on Item 7 as he was not present at the meeting. (Yes: Andersen, 
Holcombe, Phillips, Rodrigues, Smithey, Telles and Watts) 

It was M/S/C to approve the minutes of the July 23, 2015 Board meeting. (Yes: Andersen, 
Holcombe, Phillips, Rodrigues, Smithey, Telles and Watts) 

Allen, Gordon and Hast were present for subsequent discussion and voting. 

CLOSED SESSION 
 
The Board moved into closed session pursuant to Govt. Code Section 54957.6. 
 
The Board moved into open session. 
 



Page 2 
September 23, 2015 

 

 

4. There was no reportable action related to Govt. Code Section 54957.6. 

5. Presentation from staff on Real Asset commitment pace 

Price and Youngman reviewed their memo regarding CCCERA’s real asset commitment schedule 
noting the pace has been slower than originally thought and staff now recommends a practice of 75% 
over-commitment to direct funds, and a 100% over-commitment to fund of funds. This is a change 
from the recommendation the Board received on November 25, 2014 which was to over-commit by 
75% for both direct and indirect funds. 

6. Presentation from staff and Aether regarding proposed Aether IV Commitment – Troy Schell, 
David Rhoades, Sean Goodrich 

Youngman noted this is a follow – on fund to Aether Real Assets III and will follow a similar 
strategy of investing in real asset funds. Staff recommendation is to commit $50 million to the 
Aether Real Assets IV strategy. 

Rhoades introduced the team and provided an overview of Aether noting they are currently raising 
their fourth fund. 

Goodrich discussed commodity prices noting that they focus on agriculture, energy and metals. He 
noted they believe that prices will increase and they will be able to take advantage of this in their 
funds. He also discussed Aether’s biases noting that they are biased towards smaller funds, 
operational experience and are not dependent on financial leverage or technological innovation. 

Schell reviewed what differentiates Aether noting their research database is customized solely for 
real assets due diligence and monitoring, their sole focus on real assets investments and their unique 
approach to investment sourcing.  

Rhoades reviewed the returns of the Aether Real Asset (ARA) funds as of March 31, 2015 and June 
30, 2015 noting that for June 30th the rate of returns were – ARA I: 6.7%, ARA II: -0.2%, ARA III: 
6.3%, and ARA III Surplus: 9.1%. 

7. Consider and take possible action to commit to Aether Real Assets IV 

It was M/S/C to commit $50 million to Aether Real Assets IV strategy subject to a successful on-site 
visit, legal review and authorize the Chief Executive Officer to execute the necessary contracts. 
(Yes: Allen, Andersen, Gordon, Hast, Phillips, Rodrigues, Smithey, Telles and Watts) 

Telles was no longer present for subsequent discussion and voting. 

8. Presentation from staff and Siguler Guff regarding proposed Siguler Guff DREOF II Co-
investment Fund commitment – Matt Brewer, Jim Corl 

Price and Youngman reviewed their memo noting this new fund is a co-investment fund, offered 
primarily to the investors in Siguler Guff Distressed Real Estate Fund II. 
 
Prior to their presentation, Siguler Guff waived the confidentiality disclaimer on the presentation 
materials. 

Brewer noted this offering is a small distressed real estate investment fund that is being offered to 
current investment partners in the Siguler Guff Distressed Real Estate Fund II. He stated they are 
close to 80% committed in the current fund and have additional opportunities that they would like to 
take advantage of. There is a two year investment period with this co-investment fund. 
 



Page 3 
September 23, 2015 

 

 

Corl provided an update on the current investments noting Fund I and II have done very well. He 
noted that Fund II will continue the strategy used in Fund I and will focus on opportunities Siguler 
Guff believes present the best value characteristics. He also discussed the fees noting fees are 
charged on investment capital only. 

 
9. Consider and take possible action to commit to Siguler Guff DREOF II Co-investment Fund 

After a discussion on fees, it was M/S/C to commit $25 million to Siguler Guff DREOF II Co-
investment Fund subject to a successful on-site visit, legal review and authorize the Chief Executive 
Officer to execute the necessary contracts. (Yes: Allen, Andersen, Gordon, Hast, Kroll, Phillips, 
Rodrigues, Smithey and Watts). 

 

10. Consider and take possible action to authorize the CEO to execute a contract with McLagan 

for an investment compensation study 

Strohl reviewed her memo noting on August 12, 2015, the Board of Retirement authorized the CEO 
to execute a contract with Koff and Associates for a total compensation and classification study. 
McLagan is a consulting firm that specializes in compensation studies for investment classifications. 

It was M/S/C to authorize the CEO to execute a contract with McLagan for an investment 
compensation study at a total cost of $15,000. (Yes: Allen, Andersen, Gordon, Hast, Kroll, Phillips, 
Rodrigues, Smithey and Watts) 

11. Consider and take possible action to accept the actuarial valuation of future annual costs of 

proposed changes to Other Post Employment Benefits as provided by Milliman 

Dunn introduced John Botsford of Milliman. 

Milliman waived the confidentiality disclaimer on the presentation materials. 

Botsford reviewed his report regarding the proposed retiree health benefit changes effective January 
1, 2016. He discussed the assumptions and methodology used to create the different scenarios. 

It was M/S/C to accept the actuarial valuation of future costs of proposed changes to Other Post 
Employment Benefits as provided by Milliman. (Yes: Allen, Andersen, Gordon, Hast, Kroll, 
Phillips, Rodrigues, Smithey and Watts) 

12. Consider authorizing the attendance of Board and/or staff: 

a. It was M/S/C to authorize the attendance of 1 Board member at the CRCEA Fall Conference, 
CRCEA, October 19-21, 2015, Stockton, CA. (Yes: Allen, Andersen, Gordon, Hast, Kroll, 
Phillips, Rodrigues, Smithey and Watts). 

b. It was M/S/C to authorize the attendance of 1 Board member and 1 staff member at the 
Educational Forum, CalPERS, October 26-28, 2015, San Jose, CA.  (Yes: Allen, Andersen, 
Gordon, Hast, Kroll, Phillips, Rodrigues, Smithey and Watts). 

c. It was M/S/C to authorize the attendance of all Board members and appropriate staff at the 
SACRS Fall Conference, SACRS, November 17-20, 2015, San Diego, CA. (Yes: Allen, 
Andersen, Gordon, Hast, Kroll, Phillips, Rodrigues, Smithey and Watts). 

13. Miscellaneous 

(a) Staff Report – 
 



Page 4 
September 23, 2015 

 

 

Strohl introduced Alexis Cox, the new Benefits Manager; she gave an update on the total 
compensation and classification study; and, she asked that Board members let her know if they 
are unable to attend the September 29th and 30th Board meeting. 
 
Dunn reported there was an ADP kickoff meeting to set up payroll; the AFSCME MOU will be 
coming to the Board at the October 7, 2015 meeting; and, possible buyers will be touring the 
building at the end of the week. 
 
Price gave an update on on-site visits; and, stated the September 29th and 30th Board meetings 
will be at the Pleasant Hill Community Center. 
 

(b) Outside Professionals’ Report -    
 
None 
 

(c) Trustees’ comments – 
 
Holcombe reported he attended the CALAPRS Trustee Roundtable and felt it was excellent. 
 
Rodrigues stated he felt the CALAPRS Trustee Roundtable was the best one he has attended. 
 
Gordon stated he appreciated the comments regarding the CALAPRS Trustee Roundtable. 
 

 
 

It was M/S/C to adjourn the meeting.  (Yes: Allen, Andersen, Gordon, Hast, Kroll, Phillips, Rodrigues, 
Smithey and Watts) 
 
 
 
 
             
John Phillips, Chairman     Scott Gordon, Secretary 
 
 



 
 

 
MINUTES 

 
RETIREMENT BOARD MEETING MINUTES 

 
INVESTMENT STRATEGY DEVELOPMENT 

WORKSHOP – DAY 1 
September 29, 2015 

9:00 a.m. 

McHale Room 
Pleasant Hill Community Center 

320 Civic Drive 
Pleasant Hill, California 

 
 
Present: Debora Allen, Candace Andersen, Scott Gordon, Brian Hast, Jerry Holcombe, Louie 

Kroll, John Phillips, William Pigeon, Gabe Rodrigues and Russell Watts 
 
Absent: Todd Smithey and Jerry Telles 
 
Staff: Gail Strohl, Retirement Chief Executive Officer, Timothy Price, Retirement Chief 

Investment Officer; Karen Levy, Retirement General Counsel; Wrally Dutkiewicz, 
Retirement Compliance Officer; and Christina Dunn, Retirement Admin/HR Manager.  

 
Outside Professional Support: Representing: 

Harvey Leiderman Reed Smith LLP 
Edward Hoffman Verus Consulting Group 
Scott Whalen  Verus Consulting Group 

 
1. Pledge of Allegiance 

Allen led all in the Pledge of Allegiance. 

2. Accept comments from the public 

No members of the public offered comment. 

3. Presentations regarding Investment Strategy Development 

Price gave a brief overview of the format for the day and the goals of the workshop. 

Andersen and Pigeon were present for subsequent discussion and voting. 

Whalen reviewed the framework, goals and objectives for the workshop.  He also reviewed the 
status of the integrated consulting process. 
 
Leiderman distributed “Fiduciary Considerations for Establishing Prudent Asset Allocation.”   He 
reviewed fiduciary duties noting the Board needs to know the long term objectives and goals of the 
trust when deciding how to invest.  He also reviewed best practices to assure prudent investment 
processes and fiduciary considerations in setting asset allocations. 
 
Price distributed “Developing a Statement of Investment Philosophy: Stage 1.”  Whalen reviewed 
the purpose of the Statement of Investment Philosophy. He reviewed the Plan purpose, goals & 
constraints, the portfolio design and construction, and performance evaluation. 



Page 2 
September 29, 2015 

 

 

 
Dr. Ashby Monk, Stanford University, gave a presentation on the production of investment returns 
and thinking outside of the box. 
 

Gordon was no longer present for subsequent discussion and voting. 
 
Price distributed “CCCERA’s Investment Evolution”. Whalen reviewed the long-term policy 
allocations and the historical actual asset allocation.  He also reviewed the historical strategy 
selections over the last 10 years noting 12 strategies were terminated and 16 new strategies were 
selected. 
 
Price distributed “Understanding, Recognizing, and Overcoming Behavioral Biases.”  Whalen 
reviewed traditional vs. behavioral finance and why it matters. He also discussed decision making 
and monitoring managers. 
 

Andersen was no longer present for subsequent discussion and voting. 
 
Price distributed “Goals and Constraints.”  Hoffman discussed the context when thinking about goals 
and constraints and achieving goals within regulatory, public, media and self-imposed constraints. 
 
Price distributed “Developing a Statement of Investment Philosophy: Stage 2.”  Whalen reviewed 
the session objectives. The Board discussed the possible wording for the portfolio design and 
construction.  The Board also discussed the current approach and an alternative approach to 
performance evaluation.  
 
Whalen re-capped the day and gave a preview of Day 2. 

 
4. Miscellaneous 

(a) Staff Report – None 
 

(b) Outside Professionals’ Report - None 
 

(c) Trustees’ comments – None 
 

 
It was M/S/C to adjourn the meeting.  (Yes:  Allen, Hast, Holcombe, Kroll, Phillips, Pigeon, Rodrigues 
and Watts) 
 
 
 
 
             
John Phillips, Chairman     Scott Gordon, Secretary 
 
 



 
 

 
MINUTES 

 
RETIREMENT BOARD MEETING MINUTES 

 
INVESTMENT STRATEGY DEVELOPMENT 

WORKSHOP – DAY 2 
September 30, 2015 

9:00 a.m. 

McHale Room 
Pleasant Hill Community Center 

320 Civic Drive 
Pleasant Hill, California 

 
 
Present: Debora Allen, Candace Andersen, Scott Gordon, Brian Hast, Jerry Holcombe, Louie 

Kroll, John Phillips, William Pigeon, Gabe Rodrigues and Russell Watts 
 
Absent: Todd Smithey and Jerry Telles 
 
Staff: Gail Strohl, Retirement Chief Executive Officer, Timothy Price, Retirement Chief 

Investment Officer; Karen Levy, Retirement General Counsel; Wrally Dutkiewicz, 
Retirement Compliance Officer; and Christina Dunn, Retirement Admin/HR Manager. 

 
Outside Professional Support: Representing: 

Harvey Leiderman Reed Smith LLP 
Edward Hoffman  Verus Consulting Group 
Scott Whalen  Verus Consulting Group 

 
1. Pledge of Allegiance 

Holcombe led all in the Pledge of Allegiance. 

2. Accept comments from the public 

No members of the public offered comment. 

Pigeon was present for subsequent discussion and voting. 

3. Presentations regarding Investment Strategy Development 

Whalen gave a brief review of Day 1 and an introduction to Day 2. 

The Role of Asset Classes was distributed.  Hoffman gave an introduction to the role of asset 
classes. He discussed the different aspects of building portfolios and market environments.  He also 
discussed the roles and return drivers for equities, fixed income and real assets/alternatives. 

Whalen gave an overview of the session objectives.  He reviewed the Asset/Liability Study, the 
summary findings, historical experience, deterministic projections and stochastic projections. He 
reviewed investment models and investment model forecasts.   

Price distributed “Enterprise Risk Tolerance Assessment.”  Whalen discussed risk elements and 
mitigating factors. He defined enterprise risk as an aggregation of many types of risk elements and 



Page 2 
September 30, 2015 

 

 

offsetting mitigating factors which must be assessed individually.  He discussed investment risk, 
liability risk, decision risk, and potential mitigating factors. 

Gordon was no longer present for subsequent discussion and voting. 

Hoffman distributed “Investment Strategy Evaluation”.  He gave an overview of modeling 
techniques including mean-variance analysis, asset-liability modeling, scenario analysis, stress tests 
and risk decomposition.  

Price reviewed an example of a Functionally Focused Portfolio (FFP). 

Hoffman reviewed a forecasted risk/return for different portfolio types and an investment model 
evaluation summary. 

The Board discussed different models and estimated timelines in changing our asset allocation.  It 
was noted investment policy implications could take up to 2 years. 

The Board directed staff to create a risk-balanced 50/25/25 investment model and a refined 
Functionally Focused Portfolio (FFP) model.  A special meeting may be scheduled in December to 
review and select a final asset mix. 

Whalen reviewed the workshop goals and objectives and the next steps – an asset allocation 
workshop and an IPS/detailed implementation plan review. 

4. Consider and take possible action to accept new target asset allocation 

No action was taken. 
 

5. Miscellaneous 

(a) Staff Report – None 
 

(b) Outside Professionals’ Report - None  
 

(c) Trustees’ comments – None 
 
 
 

It was M/S/C to adjourn the meeting.  (Yes:  Allen, Andersen, Hast, Holcombe, Kroll, Phillips, Pigeon, 
Rodrigues and Watts) 
 
 
 
 
             
John Phillips, Chairman     Scott Gordon, Secretary 
 
 



























 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 

Date:  November 4, 2015    

To:  CCCERA Board of Retirement 

From:  Gail Strohl, Chief Executive Officer 
  Karen Levy, General Counsel 

Wrally Dutkiewicz, Compliance Officer 
 

Subject: Consider and Take Possible Action Regarding the Collection of Pension 
Overpayments from the County Due to Its Erroneous Reporting of Panel 
Management Pay As Pensionable Compensation.    

_______________________________________________________________________________________ 

Background 
 
Panel Management Pay (PMP) refers to the delivery of primary care services through telephone 
and electronic communication with patients and other members of the medical team and the 
coordination of patient care including specialty care delivered at multiple locations.  The duties 
required to implement the Panel Management care model were performed outside of a 
physician’s traditional work schedule.  In 2011, the Contra Costa County Health Services 
Department began to compensate those physicians who performed “Panel Management” duties 
by paying them one (1) hour and thirty (30) minutes of on-call pay for each day worked at the 
straight time rate (1.0) of the physician’s base rate of pay.  This Panel Management Pay was paid 
to physicians using the existing on-call pay earnings code D32 and pension contributions were 
collected on the PMP amounts paid. 
 
Pursuant to Government Code §31461(a) and (b)(3) CCCERA staff reviewed the conditions and 
duties under which “Panel  Management” on-call pay was paid to physicians and deemed that the 
pay was not pensionable compensation as the payments were for additional services rendered by 
physicians outside of normal working hours. Upon notification of this determination the County 
performed the following corrective actions for its active CCCERA membership: 
 

• Adopted Resolution No. 2013/372 on 9/24/2013 to ratify prior PMP payments and 
establish a designated form of pay to replace the use of the D32 on-call pay code; 

 
• Refunded pension contributions collected on behalf of its active members who received 

PMP payments for the period 2011 through 2013 and issued corrected W2C for the 2011 
and 2012 tax years.  The 2013 contributions were refunded and then reported wages 
adjusted for 2013 W2 tax form reporting; 
 



Panel Management Pay – Overpayment Collection 
Page 2 of 2 

 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

1355 Willow Way   Suite 221   Concord   CA    94520    925.521.3960   FAX: 925.646.5747      www.cccera.org 

• Provided CCCERA with the County’s correction files including copies of the payment 
warrants issued to all affected active members who received PMP pay. 
 

In order to assist the County in correcting its error in reporting PMP under earn code D32, it was 
deemed necessary for CCCERA to refund the interest that had accrued on the contributions 
collected on the PMP payments to active membership.  Staff prepared an analysis and calculated 
the appropriate interest refund amounts for each member.  The refund disbursements to PMP 
payment recipients were completed by October 2014. 
 
Pension Overpayments Attributed to the Inclusion of PMP in FAS  
 
During the review of the data that had been provided by the County there were five (5) retired 
members that were identified that had received PMP payments coded as D32 during their service 
which, at the time of their retirement, had been included in their final average salary (FAS) for 
pension calculation purposes. 
 

Staff reviewed each of the five (5) pension calculations to determine what each retiree’s adjusted 
prospective pension would be with the exclusion of the PMP payments in FAS and, to what 
extent an overpayment had been made.  Once these calculations had been finalized there were 
four (4) retirees identified as having overpayments.  Each of the retirees were notified via letters 
dated August 7th, 2015. 
 
The following pension overpayments, net of contributions plus interest, were calculated as 
having been paid to the retirees: 
 

$ 35,821.66 
   29,969.58 
   27,763.22 
   16,495.73 

  $ 110,050.19 
 

Recommendation 
 
With respect to the overpayments paid to retirees that were attributed to the erroneous coding of 
Panel Management Pay as a pensionable compensation item by the County, it is recommended 
that the Board directs staff to seek from the County the amount of $110,050.19 representing the 
amount of overpayment paid to four retirees and that staff is directed to return with an update 
about the resolution of this issue vis-à-vis the County.  This would be consistent with Internal 
Revenue Service correction programs which provide that an appropriate correction method may 
include having the employer contribute the amount of overpayment with appropriate interest to 
the plan in lieu of seeking recoupment from plan participants and beneficiaries.  Rev. Proc. 2015-
27, Sec. 3.02(3).  Compliance with IRS corrections provisions would protect the tax-qualified 
status of the plan. 



BROWN ACT

FUNDAMENTALS

Presented by:

Karen Levy, Esq.
General Counsel

November 4, 2015



Ralph M. Brown Act 

Open Meetings Laws For Local 

Legislative Bodies

� The Brown Act sets forth the rules regarding 
open meetings held by local legislative 
bodies

� The CCCERA Board of Retirement is subject 
to the Brown Act

Government Code Section 54950 et seq. 2



Purpose of the Brown Act
� To ensure that public agency actions are taken openly

� To ensure that public agency deliberations are done 
openly

Government Code Section 54950
3



Key Concepts
� Retirement Board meetings must be open and 

accessible to the public

� A Board meeting agenda must be posted publicly 

� During Board meetings, the public must be given an 
opportunity to comment

4



Retirement Board meetings must 

be open and accessible to the 

public

� “Meeting” means any congregation of a majority of the 
Retirement Board (i.e. five Retirement Board 
members) at the same place and location (including 
teleconference locations) to hear, discuss, deliberate or 
take action on any item within the Retirement Board’s 
subject matter jurisdiction 

Govt. Code § 54952.2(a) 5



Serial Meetings
� “Meeting” also means any serial use of communication, 

personal intermediaries, or technological devices through 
which a majority of the Board’s members discuss, 
deliberate, or take action on an item 

� For example, an unlawful “serial” meeting would occur if 
Board member A e-mails Board member B about his or her 
position on a Retirement Board issue.  B forwards A’s e-
mail to C, who then forwards to D, who then forwards to E.  
A mere series of e-mails or phone calls by a majority of the 
Board about one of its business items violates the Brown 
Act

Govt. Code § 54952.2(b) 6



Retirement Board Members 

Attendance At Conferences
� A majority of the Retirement Board members may 

attend a conference or similar gathering open to the 
public that involves a discussion of issues of general 
interest to the public or to other public pension 
systems, so long as the majority of the board do not 
discuss among themselves business that is within the 
subject matter jurisdiction of the Retirement Board  

� Examples of such conferences include the State 
Association of County Retirement Systems (SACRS) 
and the California Association of Public Retirement 
Systems (CALAPRS) conferences 

Govt. Code § 54952.2(c)(2) 7



Attendance at Purely Social Events
� A majority of the Retirement Board members may 

attend a purely social or ceremonial occasion, provided 
that the majority of the Retirement Board members do 
not discuss among themselves business that is within 
the subject matter of the retirement board 

Govt. Code § 54952.2(c)(5) 8



Agenda Requirement
� At least 72 hours before a regular meeting of the 

Retirement Board, an agenda containing a general 
description of each item of business to be transacted, 
including items to be discussed, and the time and 
location of the meeting must be posted in a public 
location and the CCCERA Internet Web site

Govt. Code § 54954.2(a) 9



Agenda Requirement
� If an item is not included on the agenda, the Retirement 

Board may not act on or discuss that item, or add that item 
to the meeting’s agenda as an urgency item, subject to 
limited exceptions 

� As to items that are not included on the agenda, 
Retirement Board members and staff may ask a question 
for clarification, make a brief announcement, or make a 
brief report.  Retirement Board members may provide a 
reference to staff or other resources for factual information, 
request staff to report back to the body at a subsequent 
meeting concerning any matter, or take action to direct 
staff to place a matter of business on a future agenda  

Govt. Code § 54954.2 10



Public Comment
� During each meeting, the Retirement Board must 

allow public comment on each agenda item and on 
other matters within the jurisdiction of the Board 

Govt. Code § 54954.3(a) 11



Closed Session
� The Brown Act authorizes the Retirement Board to hold closed 

sessions to discuss or take action on items under certain enumerated 
circumstances

� Examples:
� The Retirement Board may meet in closed session to deliberate or take 

action on the purchase or sale of a particular, specific pension fund 
investment (Govt. Code § 54956.81) 

� The Retirement Board may meet in closed session on personnel 
matters (Govt. Code §54957)  

� The Retirement Board may meet in closed session with CCCERA’s 
designated representatives regarding employees’ salaries, benefits but 
cannot take final action in closed session (Govt. Code §54957.6)

� The Retirement Board may meet in closed session to confer with legal 
counsel regarding pending litigation that has been formally initiated, 
exposure to litigation against the retirement system or the board, and 
to decide whether to initiate litigation (Govt. Code §54956.9)  

� Confidentiality of Closed Sessions:  Board members may not disclose 
confidential information acquired by being present in a closed session to 
a person not entitled to receive the information (Govt. Code §54963(a))

12



Consequence of Violating the 

Brown Act
� Criminal liability for individual Board members

� Civil remedies: civil actions to stop, prevent or 
invalidate of the action of the Board

� Attorneys fees and costs awarded to plaintiff

13



Consequence of Violating the 

Brown Act
� Individual criminal liability:

Each Retirement Board member who attends a Retirement 
Board meeting where action is taken in violation of any 
provisions of the Brown Act, and where the member 
intends to deprive the public of information to which the 
member knows or has reason to know the public is 
entitled under the Brown Act, is guilty of a misdemeanor.  

Govt. Code § 54959
14



Consequence of Violating the 

Brown Act
� Civil remedies: Any person may commence an action 

by mandamus, injunction, or declaratory relief for the 
purpose of stopping or preventing violations or 
threatened violations of the Brown Act. 

Govt. Code § 54960
15



Consequence of Violating the 

Brown Act
� Civil remedies: Any person may commence an action 

by mandamus or injunction for the purpose of 
obtaining a judicial determination that an action taken 
by a legislative body of a local agency is null and void.

� Prior to commencing the action, the person must 
make a demand of the Board to cure or correct the 
action

Govt. Code § 54960.1 16



Consequence of Violating the 

Brown Act
� A court may award attorney fees and costs to the 

prevailing plaintiff

� A court may award attorney fees and cost to a 
defendant public agency if the court finds that the 
action against the agency for alleged Brown Act 
violation was frivolous and lacking in merit.

Govt. Code § 54960.5 17



Questions?

18


	agenda 11.04.15
	THE RETIREMENT BOARD MAY DISCUSS AND TAKE ACTION ON THE FOLLOWING:

	Item 3
	Minutes 9.23.15
	Minutes 9.29.15
	Minutes 9.30.15

	Item 4
	Item 9
	Item 10

